RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **09-13-2018**

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018AP845-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MEDFORD B. MATTHEWS, III,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER ENTERED IN KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE BRUCE E. SCHROEDER PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

GREGORY M. WEBER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018533

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-3935 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) webergm@doj.state.wi.us

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Kenosha County district attorney charged Medford B. Matthews, III, with seven crimes: four counts of exposing intimate parts, two counts of child enticement, and one count of sexual intercourse with a child age 16 or older.

Exposing intimate parts and child enticement are felonies. Sexual intercourse with a child age 16 or older is a misdemeanor.

On March 19, 2018, the Kenosha County circuit court dismissed the six felony charges on Matthews's motion, leaving only the misdemeanor charge for trial. The court called the district attorney's application of the felony charges to this case—and his decision to charge the felonies—abusive and absurd.

Did the circuit court err in dismissing the six felony charges?

The circuit court implicitly answered "no."

This Court should answer "yes."

INTRODUCTION

"Absurdity, like beauty, sometimes lies in the eye of the beholder."¹

We have that here.

The beholders in this case—Matthews and the circuit court—believe the district attorney overcharged Matthews. The court acted on this belief by dismissing the six felony charges. In so doing, the court improperly usurped the district attorney's charging authority, and improperly

¹ Maine Medical Center v. Burwell, 841 F.3d 10, 22 (1st Cir. 2016).

applied the absurdity doctrine to facilitate that effort. This Court should rectify the situation by reversing the dismissal order, and remanding the case to permit prosecution on all seven charges.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument appears unnecessary. The parties' briefs should adequately develop the relevant legal arguments. Publication may clarify the proper roles of the district attorney and the circuit court in the charging of criminal cases, and the proper judicial application of the absurdity doctrine. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(1)(a)1.

RELEVANT STATUTES

A person commits the Class I felony offense of exposing intimate parts under Wis. Stat. § 948.10(1) when, for purposes of sexual arousal or gratification, he causes a child to expose intimate parts, or exposes his intimate parts to the child. A convicted defendant faces a possible threeand-one-half-year prison sentence.

A person commits the Class D felony offense of child enticement with intent to expose intimate parts under Wis. Stat. § 948.07 when, with intent to violate Wis. Stat. § 948.10(1), he causes or attempts to cause a child to go into any vehicle, building, room, or secluded place. A convicted defendant faces a possible 25-year prison sentence.

A person commits the Class A misdemeanor offense of sexual intercourse with a child age 16 or older under Wis. Stat. § 948.09 when he has nonmarital sexual intercourse with the child. A convicted defendant faces a possible ninemonth sentence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State appeals from the March 19, 2018, order dismissing six felony counts from the amended complaint, leaving one misdemeanor count for trial. (R. 21; A-App. 125– 28.) The criminal behavior the State attributes to Matthews in this brief is alleged, not yet established at trial.

The amended complaint charged Matthews with four counts of exposing intimate parts (Counts One, Three, Five, and Six), two counts of child enticement (Counts Two and Four), and one count of sexual intercourse with a child age 16 or older (Count Seven). (R. 16:1–7; A-App. 101–07.) The charges stem from physical and sexual activity involving the 28-year-old Matthews, a supermarket manager, and his 17year old employee, MJH, at the beginning of September, 2017. (R. 16:2–6; A-App. 102–06.)

The first exposure of intimate parts occurred September 3, 2017, when Matthews removed MJH's clothing. (R. 16:3; A-App. 103.) The second occurred September 11, 2017, when Matthews again removed MJH's clothing. (R. 16:3–4; A-App. 103–04.) The third and fourth occurred September 18, 2017, when Matthews again removed MJH's clothing, as well as his own. (R. 16:4; A-App. 104.)

The first child enticement occurred September 11, 2017, when Matthews drove MJH to his brother's house and engaged in sexual behavior. (R. 16:3–4; A-App. 103–04.) The second occurred September 18, 2017, when Matthews drove MJH to his own residence and again engaged in sexual behavior. (R. 16:4; A-App. 104.)

Finally, the sexual intercourse occurred September 18, 2017, when Matthews inserted his finger into MJH's vagina. (R. 16:4; A-App. 104.)

On December 11, 2017, Matthews filed a motion to dismiss Counts One through Six-the felony charges of exposing intimate parts and child enticement. (R. 12; A-App. 108-113.)

Matthews led with a subjective assertion: "The worst act the defendant is accused of committing is sexual contact with a finger—which the legislature has defined as "intercourse"—with a seventeen-year-old. Nonetheless, the [district attorney] has drafted a complaint that exposes the defendant to nearly 65 years of imprisonment and a quarter million dollars in fines." (R. 12:2; A-App. 109.) Matthews followed with challenges to venue and jurisdiction as to Counts Two and Three, double jeopardy challenges to Counts Two, Four, Five, and Six, and challenges to the factual sufficiency of Counts Two and Four. (R. 12:2–4; A-App. 109–111.)

Matthews also asked the circuit court to dismiss Counts One through Six based on the "doctrine of absurdity." (R. 12:4-5; A-App. 111-12.) He repeated his subjective assertion that the "worst act" alleged against him was the act of misdemeanor sexual intercourse. (R. 12:4; A-App. 111.) He also accused the district attorney of "stacking" felony charges against him to increase the maximum possible penalty. (R. 12:4; A-App. 111.)

He then argued that a court may consider a clear, unambiguous statute absurd if, by applying it literally, the result is absurd and unreasonable. (R. 12:4–5; A-App. 111– 12.) He argued that, "in our case, the [district attorney] is charging *serious* felonies for *routine* acts—i.e., going into a house and undressing—that are necessary predicate acts to sexual intercourse. This leads to an absurd result." (R. 12:5; A-App. 112.) He noted a previous Kenosha County case where a circuit court apparently applied the absurdity doctrine. (R. 12:5; A-App. 112.) The district attorney opposed Matthews' motion. (R. 15.) As to the absurdity doctrine claim, the district attorney noted that the seven charges—and the three crimes specified in the charges—were legally and factually distinct, and the legislature had determined that each crime addressed different types of criminal conduct. (*Id.* at 3–4.)

A Kenosha County court commissioner passed the double jeopardy and absurdity doctrine claims to the circuit court for decision, and denied the remaining claims. (R. 28:2-5.)

The circuit court held a hearing on Matthews' motion on February 21, 2018, (R. 29; A-App. 114–124.) The court began by confirming it had, in fact, considered a similar motion in a different case. (R. 29:5; A-App. 118.)

The circuit court then posited a possible outcome in Matthews' case—convictions for misdemeanor sexual intercourse with a child age 16 or older and felony child enticement, if the intercourse occurred as the result of Matthews causing MJH to go to a place outside of public view with the intent to expose intimate parts. (R. 29:5, 7–8; A-App. 118, 120–21.) The court suggested that, if the sexual intercourse had occurred in public, Matthews would only face the misdemeanor conviction. The court challenged the district attorney: "Do you think that is absurd?" (R. 29:6; A-App. 119.)

The circuit court thought it was absurd, and an abusive charging decision by the district attorney: "I think this is abusive. I really do. You know, the district attorney may well be disgusted with certain conduct, which if it's true, it's loathsome. It's a very serious matter. It doesn't change the fact that the statutes have to be applied in a fashion that makes it non-absurd." (R. 29:8; A-App. 121.) The court also considered it absurd for the district attorney to charge the crimes of exposing intimate parts and sexual intercourse with a child age 16 or older in combination because it was impossible to engage in sexual intercourse without exposing intimate parts. (R. 29:8–9; A-App. 121–22.)

On March 19, 2018, the circuit court entered a written order dismissing the six felonies. (R. 21; A-App. 125–28.) The court reasoned as follows:

First, Wisconsin law once made it a felony for an adult male defendant to have nonmarital sexual intercourse with a female child age 16 or older. (R. 21:1–2, A-App. 125–26.)

Second, the legislature later created section 948.09, which made it a misdemeanor for an adult defendant to have nonmarital sexual intercourse with a child age 16 or older. (R. 21:2; A-App. 126.)

Third, by creating section 948.09, the legislature expressed its "obvious" intent that a completed act of nonmarital sexual intercourse between an adult defendant and a child age 16 or older should result only in a misdemeanor conviction for the adult. (R. 21:2; A-App. 126.) The court cited no legislative history or other legal authority to support this conclusion.

Fourth, the district attorney "reads the statutes to require that the sexual contact occur without either party exposing his or her genitals to the other," and fails to adequately explain how an act of misdemeanor sexual intercourse with a child age 16 or older may occur under section 948.09 without the simultaneous commission of a felony exposure of intimate parts under section 948.10(1). (R. 21:2–3; A-App. 126–27.)

Fifth, the district attorney's decision to charge Matthews with violating both section 948.09 and section 948.10 was absurd because Matthews could not have sexual intercourse with MJH without causing her to expose her intimate parts, or without exposing his own intimate parts: "Since it would be impossible for intercourse to occur without exposing a sex organ of at least one of the participants, the district attorney's charging decision is an absurd one, which has the effect of defeating the intent of the Legislature. To read the statutes in this manner leads to an absurd result." (R. 21:3; A-App. 127.)

Sixth, the district attorney's decision to charge Matthews under both section 948.09 and section 948.07(3) (child enticement with intent to violate section 948.10) was absurd because, if Matthews and MJH had had sexual intercourse in a public area, the district attorney could not have charged Matthews with the felony offense of child enticement. (R. 21:3; A-App. 127.)

And seventh, the circuit court considered the district attorney's charging decision in this case a "very serious matter, because the bringing of the these felony charges puts improper pressure on a defendant to plead guilty to a crime which he may not have committed. A charge brought deliberately for that purpose would constitute an abuse of power." (R. 21:4; A-App. 128.) The court deemed the district attorney's felony charges "absurd," and dismissed them. (R. 21:4; A-App. 128.)

The district attorney requested reconsideration, arguing (1) that a single act by a defendant can result in the commission of more than one crime; (2) that the charged crimes each address separate social interests; (3) that the statutes establishing the charged crimes contain no language limiting their application; (4) that the statutes contain no express statement of legislative intent preventing the district attorney from charging them simultaneously; (5) that courts cannot interpret statutes based on their personal, subjective notions of good public policy; (6) that the absurdity doctrine applies only when a disposition results that no reasonable person could intend, and only where the absurdity can be rectified solely by correcting a technical or ministerial error in the drafting of the statute; (7) that district attorneys enjoy wide latitude in charging decisions, free from judicial interference; and (8) that the circuit court lacked authority to dismiss the six felony counts with prejudice, in the absence of a constitutional speedy trial violation. (R. 22:1–6; A. App. 129–135.)

The circuit court held hearings on the reconsideration request. (R. 30; 31; A-App. 136–58.) The court said it did not believe the statutes themselves were absurd, but asked the district attorney again how a defendant could commit an act of misdemeanor sexual intercourse with a child age 16 or older without also committing an exposure of intimate parts. (R. 30:3–4; A-App. 138–39.) The district attorney pointed out that one act may violate more than one criminal statute, analogizing to a sexual assault between siblings that also constituted incest. (R. 30:5; A-App 140.)

The circuit court chose to discuss the issue of lawful consent to sexual activity, and again asked why a public act of nonmarital sexual intercourse between an adult and a child over the age of 16 should only expose a defendant to a misdemeanor conviction, when the same act could lead to an additional felony conviction for child enticement if the defendant lured the child to a private place to have sex. (R. 31:4–9; A-App. 147–152.) The court challenged the district attorney: "Tell the court of appeals you don't think that is absurd." (R. 31:9; A-App. 152.)

The district attorney reminded the circuit court that the statutes themselves contained no limitation on the district attorney's broad charging discretion. (R. 31:10; A-App. 153.)

While the circuit court saw no indication that the district attorney brought the original charges against Matthews for improper purposes, *see* R. 31:12–13, A-App.

155–56, it did not alter its March 19, 2018, written order. The State appeals from that order.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The scope of a circuit court's authority to act in a particular area, statutory construction, and a statute's applicability to a set of facts all present questions of law, reviewed de novo. See DWD v. LIRC, 2016 WI App 21, ¶ 7, 367 Wis. 2d 609, 877 N.W.2d 620; Pulera v. Town of Richmond, 2017 WI 61, ¶ 12, 375 Wis. 2d 676, 896 N.W.2d 342.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in dismissing the six felony charges.

A. Principles of law governing a district attorney's charging authority.

A circuit court cannot substitute its judgment directly or indirectly—for the district attorney's judgment on which charges to bring in a criminal case. Absent statutes that provide for judicial involvement, the responsibility for charging a case rests with the executive branch of government, that is, the district attorney. *State ex rel. Unnamed Petitioners v. Connors*, 136 Wis. 2d 118, 124, 401 N.W.2d 782 (1987), *rev'd on other grounds sub nom.*, *State v. Unnamed Defendant*, 150 Wis. 2d 352, 358, 441 N.W.2d 696 (1989). *See also Flynn v. DOA*, 216 Wis. 2d 521, 545, 576 N.W.2d 245 (1998) ("The doctrine of separation of powers is implicitly found in the tripartite division of government [among] the judicial, legislative, and executive branches.").

District attorneys "have primary responsibility and wide discretion" in charging criminal offenses. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 27, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. *See also* Wis. Stat. § 978.05(1). If probable cause exists to believe the defendant has committed a crime defined by statute, then the district attorney decides whether and what to charge, subject to constitutional limitations not present here. *See United States v. Batchelder*, 442 U.S. 114, 124 (1979); *Bordenkircher v. Hayes*, 434 U.S. 357, 364 (1978); *Sears v. State*, 94 Wis. 2d 128, 133–34, 287 N.W.2d 785 (1980).

Even when the constitution is involved, the circuit court's authority to dismiss is circumscribed: "[W]e hold that the [circuit] courts of this State do not possess the power to dismiss a criminal case with prejudice prior to the attachment of jeopardy except in the case of a violation of a constitutional right to a speedy trial." *State v. Braunsdorf*, 98 Wis. 2d 569, 586, 297 N.W.2d 808 (1980).²

The district attorney does not answer to any other state officers, including the circuit court, who may disagree with his charging decisions. *State v. Johnson*, 74 Wis. 2d 169, 174, 246 N.W.2d 503 (1976); *State ex rel. Kurkierewicz v. Cannon*, 42 Wis. 2d 368, 378–79, 166 N.W.2d 255 (1969). He answers to the electorate. *Kurkierewicz*, 42 Wis. 2d at 378. A circuit court's disagreement with the district attorney's charging choices does not justify dismissal: "Prosecutors are given wide discretion in their charging decisions and, although some may disagree—as the trial judge apparently did—with the prosecutor's decision to [charge] [here], it is a decision which must be lived with."

² The order in this case does not specify whether the circuit court dismissed the charges with or without prejudice. (R. 21:4; A-App. 128.) But the circuit court's reasoning—and the tone in which the court expressed that reasoning—leaves little doubt that it will not permit reinstatement of the charges at some later point, unless this Court intervenes.

United States v. Malik, 16 F.3d 45, 52 (2nd Cir. 1994) (footnote omitted).

As to the charges brought, the district attorney "may select among related crimes and determine which of them will be charged." Unnamed Petitioners, 136 Wis. 2d at 125. If a defendant's conduct violates more than one criminal statute, the district attorney may charge violations of each statute. "Except as provided in s. 948.025(3), if an act forms the basis for a crime punishable under more than one statutory provision, prosecution may proceed under any or all such provisions." Wis. Stat. § 939.65.

B. Principles of law governing the application of criminal statutes to specific fact situations.

The fact that the legislature may not have contemplated the application of a criminal statute to a given fact situation does not mean the district attorney cannot charge the crime. Statutory provisions should apply to all situations fairly included within their terms, absent language in the statute to the contrary. *State v. Badzmierowski*, 171 Wis. 2d 260, 263–64, 490 N.W.2d 784 (Ct. App. 1992). "If the language of a statute reasonably covers a situation, the statute applies irrespective of whether the legislature ever contemplated that specific application." 2B Norman J. Singer & Shambie Singer, *Sutherland Statutes and Statutory Construction*, § 54:5 (7th ed. 2016).

C. Principles of law governing application of the absurdity doctrine.

"[C]ourts must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there. When the words of a statute are unambiguous, then, this first canon [of judicial construction] is also the last: judicial inquiry is complete." *Conn. Nat'l Bank v. Germain*, 503 U.S. 249, 253–54 (1992) (citations and quotations omitted).

The absurdity doctrine applies to unambiguous statutes. Where the plain language interpretation of a statute would lead to an absurd outcome which the legislature could not have intended, a court may employ the doctrine to avoid the absurd result. *Resolution Trust Corp. v. Westgate Partners, Ltd.*, 937 F.2d 526, 529 (10th Cir. 1991). It is an exception to the rule of statutory construction that the plain, ordinary meaning of a statute controls.

But it is also a doctrine sharply limited in scope and applicability:

[I]f, in any case, the plain meaning of a provision, not contradicted by any other provision in the same instrument, is to be disregarded, because we believe the framers of that instrument could not intend what they say, it must be one in which the absurdity and injustice of applying the provision to the case, would be so monstrous, that all mankind would, without hesitation, unite in rejecting the application.

Sturges v. Crowninshield, 17 U.S. 122, 202–03 (1819).

It must be "unthinkable" for the legislature "to have intended the result commanded by the words of the statute." *Robbins v. Chronister*, 435 F.3d 1238, 1241 (10th Cir. 2006). "It is not enough for a court to find that upon application of the plain meaning of a statute, a given outcome is foolish. Instead, a court so finding must be convinced that the result is so absurd that [the legislature], not the court, could not have intended such a result." *Resolution Trust Corp.*, 937 F.2d at 529.

Wisconsin courts recognize a variant of the doctrine. "[A] statute should not be construed to work an absurd result, even when the language seems clear and unambiguous." *Dombeck v. Chicago, M., St. P. & P. R. Co.*, 24 Wis. 2d 420, 438, 129 N.W.2d 185 (1964). But Wisconsin courts have also limited its applicability by cautioning that "[j]udicial deference to the policy choices enacted into law by the legislature requires that statutory interpretation focus primarily on the language of the statute." *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 44.

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