RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-13-2018

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2018AP845-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MEDFORD B. MATTHEWS, III, Defendant-Respondent.

> ON APPEAL FROM KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, BRANCH 3, HONORABLE BRUCE E. SCHROEDER PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT FILE 17-CF-1257

DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Submitted By:

RENÉE E. MURA, S.C. Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

Attorney Renée E. Mura State Bar No. 1018043

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

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court did not err in dismissing the six (6) felony charges against the defendant.

A. The applicable law on the absurdity doctrine.

Along with the Federal Courts and the U.S. Supreme Court, "the highest courts in all 50 states and the District of Columbia have endorsed [the] principle" known as the "absurdity doctrine" or the "absurd result

principle." See Veronica M. Dougherty, Absurdity and the Limits of Literalism, 44 AM. U. L. REV. 127, 129 n. 9 (1994).

In Wisconsin, the doctrine requires that "statutory language is interpreted in the context of... closely related statutes... to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court, 271 Wis.2d 633, 663, 681 N.W.2d 110, 124 (2004). Further, contrary to the State's argument, the doctrine does much more than protect defendants from "monstrous" outcomes in cases where the prosecutor takes advantage of "technical" or "linguistic" defects in the statute. Rather, "A court may construe a statute whose meaning is clear if a literal application would lead to an absurd or unreasonable result." Coca-Cola Bottling Co. v. La Follette, 106 Wis. 2d 162 (Ct. App. 1982).

Put more bluntly, "the absurd result principle may be no more than an acknowledgement that the legal community does not deal in nonsense." Dougherty, Absurdity, 44 AM. U. L. REV. at 131, n. 17 (citing *Public Citizen v. U.S. Dept. of Justice*, 491 U.S. 440 (1989)). That is exactly what we have here. However, the State's brief has muddied

the waters and introduced several red-herring arguments. These must be addressed before proceeding to the heart of the matter.

It is important to note that a statute that produces an absurd result rises to the level of a constitutional violation of Due Process and Equal Protection under the law. In certain instances, the resulting absurdity of the application of a particular statute inherently refers to its unequal application. Statutory law that is unequally applied is a clear violation of Due Process and Equal Protection.

B. The State improperly mischaracterizes and limits both the absurdity doctrine and the role of the Circuit Court.

First, and most significantly, throughout its brief the State repeatedly pits the absurdity doctrine against the legislature. More specifically, through repetition and string-cites, the State portrays the Trial Judge's application of the doctrine as undermining the legislative function. In so doing, the State mischaracterizes the doctrine of absurdity and the Trial Court's role.

To begin, "legislatures draft generally applicable statutes that tend to be over- or underinclusive." Linda D.

Jellum, But That is Absurd!, 76 BROOK. L. REV. 917, 922 (2011). "General terms should be so limited in their application as not to lead to injustice, oppression, or an absurd consequence. It will always, therefore, be presumed that the legislature intended exceptions to its language, which would avoid results of this character." U.S. v. Kirby, 74 U.S. [7 Wall.] 486 (1868). "To construe statutes so as to avoid absurd or glaringly unjust results, is ... a traditional and appropriate function of the courts." Sorrells v. U.S., 287 U.S. 435, 450 (1932).

"As such, the absurd result principle is not subservient to the principle of legislative supremacy, but actually legitimizes the legislative role. The perceived tension between the two principles is not something that requires resolution or elimination." Dougherty, *Absurdity*, 44 AM. U. L. REV. at 134. Rather, "legislative supremacy represent[s] democratic ideals, and the absurd result principle represent[s] rule of law values... each essential to the legal system." *Id.* at 165.

Second, the State urges this Court to restrict the scope of the absurdity doctrine to cases where the statute in question suffers from "linguistic garble" and can be

fixed by "changing or supplying a particular word" to correct the legislature's "technical or ministerial error." An example of this type of problem is found in *Green v*. *Bock Laundry Machine Co.*, 490 U.S. 504 (1989), where the Court was forced to read "defendant" as "criminal defendant," otherwise the statute would have produced the "odd" result of affording different treatment of civil plaintiffs and defendants under the rules of evidence. Id. at 511-24.

The problem, however, is that in making its argument to restrict the application of the absurdity doctrine to such cases, the State is confusing two different concepts: general absurdity and specific absurdity. See Jellum, But That is Absurd!, 76 BROOK L. REV. at 918. The case discussed above is an example of general absurdity: a literal reading of the unambiguous statute would produce an absurd result generally, i.e., disparate treatment of every plaintiff and every defendant in every civil case that will ever be litigated.

In our case, the Trial Judge did not find that the felony statutes with which the Defendant-Respondent was charged are generally absurd and should be corrected by

"supplying a particular word" to correct a "technical or ministerial error." Rather, the problem in our case is that of specific absurdity. "Statutes that are specifically absurd are those statutes that are absurd as applied to the facts of a particular case." *Id.* at 918. Therefore, the issue is the absurdity of the statute as it is applied in our specific case. This is discussed in section C below; however, there are still three (3) more red-herring arguments to address.

Third, the State uses many paragraphs and several more citations to establish that a prosecutor has the power to charge a defendant with the crimes of his or her choosing. The State also "reiterate[s]" this in several parts of its brief. However, this basic starting point is not in dispute. Rather, the question is whether, under our facts, the prosecutor's charging decision would lead to an "absurd," "unjust," "nonsensical," "unreasonable," or even "odd" result if the defendant was convicted.

Fourth, the State further clouds the issue by arguing that a Court cannot dismiss charges with prejudice unless there is a constitutional speedy trial violation. This is not true. By way of example only, sec. 805.03, Wis.

Stats., authorizes a trial court to dismiss a case for failure to prosecute, and such dismissal "operates as an adjudication on the merits..." *Id.* at 918. It is well established that this section and its sanctions apply to criminal cases. *See, e.g., State v. Heyer*, 174 Wis. 2d 164, 496 N.W.2d 779 (Ct. App. 1993) (sanctioning defense counsel); *State v. Prieto*, 366 Wis. 2d 794, 876 N.W.2d 154 (Ct. App. 2015) (sanctioning the prosecutor).

Because a dismissal for the failure to prosecute legitimate charges would be a dismissal "on the merits," it would be nonsensical to permit the State to re-file charges that have no merit to begin with. Additionally, because the State has chosen to appeal rather than attempt to refile the charges in the hope of obtaining a different Trial Court Judge, this issue is moot and should not detract from the real issue in this case.

Fifth and finally, the State criticizes the Trial Judge for not providing a citation for the obvious, i.e., that by creating sec. 948.09, Wis. Stats., the legislature intended "a completed act of non-marital sexual intercourse between an adult defendant and a child age 16 or older

should result in only a misdemeanor conviction for the adult."

The State's hyper-technical criticism of the Trial Judge fails. By way of analogy, the legislature enacted sec. 970.038, Wis. Stats., permitting hearsay at preliminary hearings. On what legal authority can we conclude that the legislature no longer intended that the prosecutor also satisfy the additional requirements of sec. 970.03(14)(b) with regard to hearsay uttered by a child? No such authority is needed; obviousness needs no citation. Similarly, the case before this Court presents a rare situation where the test is one of common sense, not hypertechnicality, wordplay, or the length of string-cites. That is, with regard to the absurdity doctrine, "[t]he term absurd represents a collection of values, best understood when grouped under the headings of reasonableness, rationality, and common sense." Dougherty, Absurdity, 44 AM. U. L. REV. at at 133. The Judge's common sense observation about the legislative intent when it created a misdemeanor statute needs no further support or even explanation.

C. The Circuit Court properly held that the six felonies as charged were absurd based upon the specific circumstances of this case.

In our case, the Trial Judge dismissed the six (6) felonies because they were absurd within the context of our specific facts.

There is little reason to have a sophisticated judiciary as a co-equal branch of government if all that the judiciary is allowed to do is apply statutes blindly without considering the justice of the application. Without a check by the judiciary, those convicted of laws that were not intended to apply to their circumstance will have no recourse. Jellum, But That is Absurd!, 76 BROOK L. REV. at 936. In addition, "although non-absurdity and text may clash only rarely, every time they do, text must bow to non-absurdity." Dougherty, Absurdity, 44 AM. U. L. REV. at 151. "[T]he difficulty of defining absurdity, and the historical lack of attempts to do so, can now be explained in part by the fact that the principle represents a collection of values that are fundamental to our legal system, yet seldom made explicit in the course of the principle's application." Id. at 165.

Therefore, in order to demonstrate the concept of specific absurdity, examples, rather than attempts at definition, are useful.

For instance, a statute that prohibits individuals from interfering with the delivery of mail only becomes absurd when [the prosecutor charges] a sheriff [for] arresting a mail carrier wanted for murder. U.S. v. Kirby, 74 U.S. (7 Wall.) 482 (1968). A statute that prohibits anyone from drawing blood in the street only becomes absurd when [the prosecutor charges] a doctor [for] offering medical treatment. Id. at 487. A statute that prohibits anyone from owning a fur-bearing animal only becomes absurd when [the prosecutor charges] a person who rescued a squirrel that would otherwise die. Ohio Div. Wildlife v. Clifton, 89 Ohio Misc. 2d 1 (Mun. Ct. 1997). A statute that prohibits prisoners from escaping from prison only becomes absurd when [the prosecutor charges] a prisoner who escaped from a prison that was on fire. Kirby, 74 U.S. at 487. Jellum, But That is Absurd!, 76 BROOK L. REV. at 932 (citations added to block quote). Just as statutes that criminalize interference with mail delivery, prohibit the drawing of blood in the street, ban the ownership of squirrels, and criminalize escape from prison are

reasonable on their face and nearly always in their application, so too are the statutes with which the Defendant-Respondent is charged: the criminalization of luring a minor into a secluded place and exposing oneself to a minor.

In other words, it is intended by the legislature, and perfectly proper, to prosecute: (a) the person who lures a minor into a room with the intent to "exercise force and control over the child" (*State v. Hanson*, 182 Wis. 2d 481, 487, 513 N.W.2d 700, 702 (Ct. App. 1994)); and (b) "the sexual pervert who exposes himself to a child in a park." (*State v. Stuckey*, 349 Wis. 654, 656, 837 N.W.2d 160, 161 (Ct. App. 2013)

The problem, however, is the prosecutor's application of these statutes to the facts of our case. The State wants to prosecute the Defendant-Respondent with felonies for going into a residence with his girlfriend where the two (2) removed some of their clothing, even though the completed act of sexual intercourse is only a misdemeanor. This is absurd, as it "offends us at some gut level; it offends our sense not only of fairness, but of rationality and common sense." Dougherty, *Absurdity*, 44 AM. U. L. REV.

at 151. That is, the results are "very unsuitable... ridiculous, foolish." *Id.* at 157 (citing OXFORD AMERICAN DICTIONARY).

In other words, it is unsuitable, ridiculous, and foolish to conclude that the legislature intended the To begin, a defendant would be guilty of a following. misdemeanor if he inserted his finger into his nearly eighteen-year-old girlfriend's vagina with her agreement, or even if the two (2) had full-blown, penis-to-vagina intercourse which would have exposed her to "the consequences of sexual intercourse, including the dangers and problems associated with pregnancy, damage to reproductive organs, and sexually transmitted diseases." State's Brief at 20. However, because during the course of their friendship, dating relationship, and sexual relationship leading to the misdemeanor act, the two (2) conducted their activities in a residence instead of in open and public view, and removed clothing prior to having intercourse, the defendant is quilty of six (6) felonies.

The State attempts to save our fact scenario from the fate of absurdity with the aid of two (2) analogies:

A felon who commits a crime with a handgun may face a charge on the underlying crime, and also a charge of felon-In the context of sexual misconduct, a in-possession. defendant who has non-marital sexual intercourse with a child age sixteen (16) or older who is also a sibling could potentially face both the misdemeanor charge, as well as a felony charge for incest. State's Brief at 20. The State's analogies miss the point of the absurdity doctrine. As a preliminary matter, with regard to the gun example, being a felon is a status of which a defendant would be aware by virtue of his prior conviction. But more to the point for our purposes, it is entirely possible to commit a misdemeanor crime with a handgun, i.e., firing it while intoxicated, pointing it at a person, or carrying it without a concealed carry permit, without also being a felon. Similarly, it is entirely possible, and in fact the norm, to have sexual intercourse with a seventeen-year-old girlfriend who is not also the defendant's sibling.

In our case, however, the felony crimes with which the Defendant-Respondent is charged with are necessary predicate acts to the misdemeanor. That is, going into a residence and undressing is necessary in order for two (2) persons to have voluntary sexual intercourse. The Trial

Judge implored the prosecutor to explain how charging the felonies under our set of facts was not absurd; the prosecutor, and now the Attorney General, offer no explanation.

Rather, to paraphrase the Trial Judge, the State is left to defend this position: the legislature has chosen to classify the Defendant-Respondent's voluntary sexual intercourse with his seventeen-year-old girlfriend as a misdemeanor, but only if they commit the act in an open space in plain view of others, while at the same time managing not to expose either of "their intimate parts to the other." State's A-App., 121.

The Trial Judge inquired how this would even be possible. "How would they do that?" he asked. "I don't know how," the prosecutor responded. "Well, that's the problem," the judge replied. *Id*.

Prosecution of these felonies under our facts is not only "unjust," "nonsensical," "ridiculous," "unreasonable," "unsuitable," "foolish," and "odd," but is the height of "absurdity"-particularly given the harsh consequences associated with this prosecution, including putting the Defendant-Respondent at serious risk of lengthy consecutive

prison sentences, oppressive sex-offender supervision by the Department of Corrections, life-ruining sex-offender registration and its restrictions on his basic liberties, and even the stress and anxiety experienced from merely standing accused of such crimes.

Rather, while the State's analogies fail, the better analogy is State v. Asfoor, 75 Wis.2d 411 (1977). There, the Court addressed a statutory scheme not involving sex, but rather injury. Nonetheless, that case closely parallels our case. In Asfoor, the Court addressed this absurdity: "a conviction of injury by negligent use of a weapon is a felony while conviction of homicide by negligent use of a weapon ... is a misdemeanor." Id. at 541. This mirrors our case in that a defendant cannot commit the most serious act or end result (death, in Asfoor, and sexual intercourse in our case) both of which are misdemeanors, without also committing the predicate acts (injury, in Asfoor, and so-called enticement and exposure in our case) all of which are felonies. Even if one could possibly conceive of a theoretical way to do so, such an absurd scheme "is unconstitutional in that it denies equal protection of the law as required by the Fourteenth

Amendment to the United States Constitution." Id. at 542. In short, it is absurd.

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